IN THE SUPREME COURT OF WEST VIRGINIA

STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA, PLAINTIFF BELOW, RESPONDENT,

SCA EFiled: Feb 01 2023 04:50PM EST Transaction ID 69054449

V.

DOCKET NO. 22-705 (22-F-75)

JULIE BROWNING, DEFENDANT BELOW, PETITIONER.

PETITIONER'S BRIEF

Counsel for Petitioner, J.B.

Mark Plants

Mark Plants (WV Bar #9760)

Counsel of Record Plants Law Firm 320 2nd Avenue

South Charleston, WV 25303

Tel: 304-744-9148

mplants@plantslaw.com

CERTIFICATION PAGE

I, <u>Mark Plants</u>, hereby certify that the facts alleged in Petitioner's Brief are accurate to the best of counsel's ability.

Mark S. Plants WVSB#9760

320 2nd Avenue, So. Charleston, West Virginia 25303

Mark Plants

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- I. The trial Court erroneously ruled evidence of past bad acts was intrinsic evidence. The evidence of other acts was not *inextricably intertwined* or even rationally related to the charged conduct causing the victim's death. The Court failed to make requisite findings as set forth in *State v. McGinnis*. As a result, highly prejudicial testimony of multiple past bad acts was attributed to Petitioner without sufficient evidence connecting her to the acts. Consequently, she was denied a fair trial.
- II. The trial court unconstitutionally limited Petitioner's right to cross examine a codefendant/fact witness by prohibiting any questions that had already been answered on direct examination by that witness.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On the morning of December 26, 2018, eight (8) year old R.B. collapsed in the shower after suffering flu-like symptoms. *Vol. II, Appx. Pg. 1589-98, 400:9, 468:12-24*. She had a cough for several days. *Vol. II, Appx. Pg. 1579:17, 1586:16*. Petitioner Julie Browning, her stepmother, and Marty Browning, her father, were both at work at the time. *Vol. II, Appx. Pg. 1595-1597*. Sherrie Titchenell, her live-in step-aunt, was home and immediately called 911 and reported the child was having a seizure. *Id.* EMS arrived and transported R.B. to Plateau Medical Center in Oak Hill, W. Va. *Vol. II, Appx. Pg. 398:14-400:9, 368:12-24*. All the experts agreed, R.B. died of sepsis due to untreated pneumonia. *Vol. II, App. Pg. 1449:6-1451:7*. According to the chief medical examiner, there was no evidence of physical abuse or trauma other than pneumonia. *Vol. II, Appx. Pg. 1455:14-1467:9; 781:13-782:14*.

A Fayette County Grand Jury returned a two (2) count indictment against Marty

Browning, Julie Browning, and Sherie Titchenell. <u>Count one</u> (1) alleged "death of a child by

parent, custodian, or guardian by child abuse" which occurred between August 28, 2014 and December 26, 2018. *Vol. I, Appx. Pg. 40-1*. It alleges that the defendants intentionally, maliciously inflicted pain and/or impairment of physical condition causing the death of R.B. in violation of W. Va. 61-8D-2a(a), which carries a 15-to-life sentence in prison. *Id.* Notably, this count alleges child abuse over a four (4) year period which *caused* the child's death on December 26, 2018.

Count two (2) alleged "child neglect resulting in death" which occurred between August 28, 2014 and December 26, 2018. It alleged the defendants committed medical neglect causing the death of R.B. in violation of W. Va. Code 61-8D-4a, which carries a 3-to-15-year prison sentence. *Id.* Notably, this count alleges neglect over a 4-year period *causing* pneumonia and ultimately death on December 26, 2018. Its undisputed that R.B.'s death was caused by untreated pneumonia, not previous child abuse. *Vol. II, Appx. Pg. 1455:14-1467:9; 781:13-782:14; 1449:6-1451:7.*

At trial, there were three (3) separate and distinct past bad acts the trial Court ruled were admissible. *Infra*. The evidence of other bad acts included:

- 1. Previous bruises and a cigarette burn,
- 2. Broken femur,
- 3. Starvation, including drinking from a toilet.

Most of the state's case focused on past bad acts, not the circumstances leading up to R.B.'s death. *Infra*. Multiple expert witnesses testified that the broken femur was child abuse. *Id*. State witnesses testified that R.B. was starved and intentionally deprived of water, including that she drank from a toilet. *Id*. Six of the state's witnesses, including three (3) doctors, one (1) nurse, and two (2) fact witnesses testified regarding past abuse unrelated to the death. *Infra*. The trial

testimony was substantively the same testimony presented at the 404(b) hearing on February 8,

2022. At trial, the testimony concerning other acts included the following:

Michelle Staton, M.D.- R.B.'s family physician, testified that she was not informed of the femur break in 2015, that it was unreasonable not to report it to a family physician, and that having learned of the incident- it would have been "impossible for [R.B.] to break her leg that way [as described by defendants]". Vol. II, Appx. Pg. 519:1-520:1; 526:9-528:7. Dr. Staton testified to R.B.'s loss of weight since 2014, she authenticated a chart of percentage weight loss over a 4-year period, and was "extremely, extremely" concerned with a precipitous drop in weight. Id. She did not testify who caused the broken femur or starved R.B.

Brandon Workman, M.D.- R.B.'s treating psychiatrist, testified that he was not informed of the femur break in 2015, that the defendants did not inform him of the incident, and that normally caretakers would "lead" with that type of information to help treatment. *Id. at* 620:17-621:13. He did not testify who caused the broken femur or starved R.B.

Kara Gillispie- physician's assistant, Summersville Regional Medical Center, testified that she treated R.B. on September 2, 2015 for a broken femur. *Vol. II. Appx. Pg. 684:15-690:4*. It was reported by the defendants that R.B. threw a tantrum and kicked a wall, injuring her knee. Defendant Marty Browning was the only defendant present at the ER to report the cause of the broken femur. She testified that R.B. was diagnosed with a "buckle fracture" caused by bones crushing into each other. *Id.* She opined that the femur is the hardest, strongest bone in the body and that a fracture of this nature is child abuse until proven otherwise. *Id.* She added that the defendants' story was inconsistent with the injury; and in her opinion, the femur break was child abuse. *Id.* She did not testify who caused the injury.

Joan Philips, M.D.-expert child abuse pediatrician, testified that in her expert opinion the "distal metaphyseal" femur break was child abuse, that this injury is "highly specific" of child abuse, and that this type of injury does not happen by accident. Vol. II, Appx. Pg. 830:21-833:2. She added that "we know from ... literature and research that metaphyseal fractures...[are not caused] by kicking or impact So... given the explanation it was not plausible; this was fracture caused by child abuse." Id. She opined that studies have shown that a child with a lower leg fracture caused by non-accidental trauma is "more likely to actually die." She did not testify who caused the fracture. Regarding the allegation of starvation, Dr. Philips testified that based on her review of R.B.'s past medical records/weight charts her loss in weight was an "indication that she's being deprived of food." Vol. II, Appx. Pg. 827:3-830:17. She did not testify who caused the broken femur or who deprived R.B. of food.

<u>Carrie Ciliberti</u>- R.B.'s teacher from Nicholas County, testified that R.B. suffered from a broken femur which is not common, that the parents' explanation did not fit the injury, and that she notified Child Protective Services of the incident. *Vol. II, Appx. Pgs. 1088:9-1089:9*. She testified that she previously saw bruising that appeared to be a handprint and bruises/scabs on her legs. *Id. at 1099:4; 1104:3*. She added the bruises were small and the

scabs were round, possibly cigarette burns. *Id. at 1105:5*. She testified that R.B. was always hungry, that she was afraid of telling the teachers she was hungry, and that Defendant Sherrie Titchenell advised the school not to feed R.B. breakfast. *Id. at 1091:17; 1093:6*. She did not testify which, if any, of the defendants mistreated R.B.

B.M.- R.B.'s older half-sister, testified at trial, for the first time, regarding the broken femur and starvation. However, she did not testify at the 404(b) hearing. *Vol. II*, *Appx. Pg. 82:11-14*. Her testimony was proffered through therapy notes of her therapist, Dreama Short. *Id.* At trial was the first time the court and the defendants heard details of the broken femur from B.M. *Id.* Regarding the broken femur, she stated R.B. was crying and co-defendant Sherrie Titchenell took her into a bedroom. She heard a "pop sound" and Sherrie came back out of the bedroom, but R.B. did not. *Vol. II*, *Appx. Pg. 1178:3-21*. The next day R.B. could not stand or walk on her own. *Id.* She testified that Defendant Sherrie Titchenell would strike her on multiple occasions. *Id. at 1175:18-24*. She stated that R.B. was denied food and water for days, sometimes as a form of punishment. *Id. at 1191:1-11*; *1192:7-15*. She specifically recalled an instance that R.B. drank water from the toilet. *Id. at 1195:10-23*.

On February 8, 2022, the trial court conducted a pretrial hearing regarding Petitioner's *Motion In Limine. Vol. II, Appx. Pgs. 99-107, See, Vol. I, Appx. Pgs. 42-7.* The trial Court relied on *State v. LaRock*, 196 W.Va. 294, 470 S.E.2d 613 (1996), and ruled the past bad acts were intrinsic to the charged conduct. *Id.* Upon information and belief, there was not an order drafted reflecting the court's denial of Petitioner's *Motion In Limine* from the February 8, 2022 hearing. The trial court did not conduct a 404(b) analysis and failed to make findings required by *State v. McGinnis*, 193 W.Va. 147, 159, 455 S.E.2d 516, 528 (1994). *Id.*

On June 10, 2022, Defendant Sherrie Titchenell testified regarding the facts and circumstances of R.B.'s death and other acts. *Vol. II, Appx. Pgs. 1645-75*. Petitioner's counsel was prohibited from freely cross-examining Mrs. Titchenell because the Court limited cross examination of the codefendants. *Vol. II, Appx R. 1623-4*. The Court allowed defense counsel to ask only questions that "had not already been answered" on direct. *Id.* The Court stated:

THE COURT: You know, I think I have to give other defense counsel an opportunity to ask this woman some

questions before you cross examine.

So, you finished?

MR. PLANTS: I am, Your Honor.

THE COURT: All right, you want to make sure we get all the exhibits.

All right, Mr. Dove, you may inquire, and ask any questions that have not already been answered, okay.

All right, go ahead.

Id. The Court allowed the prosecutor to cross examine witnesses as to all aspects of the case. Vol. II, App. Pgs. 1661:23-1662:3. The Court also prohibited defense counsel from objecting during the prosecutor's cross examination if counsel did not call that witness on direct. See, Vol. II, Appx. Pgs.. 1656:14-1657:2.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Other bad act evidence was not intrinsic

The trial Court erroneously ruled evidence of past bad acts was intrinsic evidence. The evidence of other acts was not *inextricably intertwined* or even rationally related to the charged conduct causing the victim's death. Other act evidence is 'intrinsic' when the evidence of the other act and the evidence of the crime charged are both part of a *single criminal episode* or the other acts were *necessary preliminaries* to the crime charged or necessary to a *full presentation* of the state's case. Here, the other acts occurred several years prior to the R.B.'s death. Undisputedly, she died from pneumonia unrelated to the past bad acts. The autopsy revealed no evidence of injuries or physical trauma other than pneumonia. The evidence of other acts was not

necessary for a full presentation of the state's case or to explain the context of the charged conduct. The context and circumstances leading up to R.B.'s death from pneumonia were practically undisputed. The only issue in dispute was the defendants' intent, i.e., whether the death was an accident or not. The *other act* evidence is classic 404(b) evidence which should have been offered to prove *intent* and/or *absence of mistake*, not intrinsic evidence.

By incorrectly ruling the other acts as intrinsic, the Court failed to make requisite findings as set forth by Syl. Pt. 2, *State v. McGinnis*, 455 S.E.2d 516 (1994). There are three (3) separate and distinct past bad acts that required a judicial analysis:

- 4. Previous bruises and a cigarette burn,
- 5. Broken femur,
- 6. Starvation, including drinking from a toilet.

Most of the state's case focused on past bad acts, not the circumstances leading up to R.B.'s death. Multiple expert witnesses testified that the broken femur was child abuse. State witnesses testified that R.B. was starved and intentionally deprived of water, including that she drank from a toilet. The trial court failed to find by a preponderance of the evidence that the Petitioner committed these acts; that the acts were relevant; and failed to apply the Rule 403 balancing test as required by *McGinnis*. As a result, the jury heard unfairly prejudicial evidence attributed to the Petitioner without a judicial determination that she committed the other acts.¹

Cross examination was unconstitutionally limited

Petitioner's counsel was prohibited from freely cross-examining codefendant/fact witness Sherrie Titchenell because the Court severely limited cross examination of the codefendants. The Court allowed defense counsel to ask *only* questions that "had not already

¹ Petitioner would have filed a motion for separate trials if the Court determined a codefendant committed the acts.

been answered" on direct. Petitioner's counsel was not afforded the opportunity to engage in hostile cross examination of Mrs. Titchenell. As such, counsel could not adequately flush out potential inconsistencies of her testimony. Importantly, R.B. was left in Mrs. Titchenell's custody, care, and control the morning of R.B.'s death. The other defendants were at work and had not seen R.B. since the day before. Mrs. Titchenell was responsible for calling 911, set the narrative of the scene that morning in the house, and was the last person to see R.B. alive.

Where there is more than one defendant or defense attorney, it may be proper to prevent one defense attorney from repeating a question already asked by another defense attorney. *U.S. v. Caudle*, 606 F.2d 451 (4th Cir. 1979). However, a defendant's right to cross-examine the witnesses on the subject matter of their direct testimony, cannot be denied merely because the witness has already asked the same or similar questions. *Id.* The fact that the questions had been previously asked and answered is a reason to permit cross-examination, not a reason to deny it. *Id. at 456*.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

The West Virginia Supreme Court is aware of the standard and the entire factual record is available for the Court's review. Therefore, oral argument is not likely to aid the Court in resolving this matter.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Regarding the admission of evidence, the action of a trial court in admitting or excluding evidence in the exercise of its discretion will not be disturbed by the appellate court unless it appears that such action amounts to an abuse of discretion. Syllabus Point 10, *State v. Huffman*, 141 W.Va. 55, 57, 87 S.E.2d 541, 544 (1955), overruled on other grounds by *State ex rel. R.L. v.*

Bedell, 192 W.Va. 435, 452 S.E.2d 893 (1994), Syl. Pt. 2, State v. Harris, 230 W.Va. 717, 742 S.E.2d 133 (2013). Further, "[a] trial court's evidentiary rulings, as well as its application of the Rules of Evidence, are subject to review under an abuse of discretion standard.' Syllabus Point 4, State v. Rodoussakis, 204 W.Va. 58, 511 S.E.2d 469 (1998)." Syl. Pt. 3, Harris, 230 W.Va. at 717, 742 S.E.2d at 134. However, the Court's review of evidence admitted pursuant to Rule 404(b) of the West Virginia Rules of Evidence involves the following additional analysis:

The standard of review for a trial court's admission of evidence pursuant to Rule 404(b) involves a three-step analysis. First, we review for clear error the trial court's factual determination that there is sufficient evidence to show the other acts occurred. Second, we review *de novo* whether the trial court correctly found the evidence was admissible for a legitimate purpose. Third, we review for an abuse of discretion the trial court's conclusion that the "other acts" evidence is more probative than prejudicial under Rule 403.

State v. LaRock, 196 W.Va. 294, 310-11, 470 S.E.2d 613, 629-30 (1996). We also note that "[t]his Court reviews disputed evidence in the light most favorable to its proponent, [in this case, the State,] maximizing its probative value and minimizing its prejudicial effects. Id. at 312, 470 S.E.2d at 631; see also State v. McGinnis, 193 W.Va. 147, 159, 455 S.E.2d 516, 528 (1994). Where the issue on appeal concerns procedural or constitutional commands and is clearly a question of law or involving an interpretation of a statute, the Court applies a de novo standard of review. State v. Boyce, 230 W.Va. 725, 742 S.E.2d 413 (W. Va. 2013).

APPLICABLE LAW: RULE 404(b)

Evidence relating to a crime that a defendant is accused of committing, other than that charged in the indictment for which he is on trial, is not generally admissible to prove the offense for which the accused is on trial. *State v. Hudson*, 128 W.Va. 655, 37 S.E.2d 553 (1946); *State v.*

Caudill, 170 W.Va. 74, 289 S.E.2d 748 (W. Va. 1982). Rule 404(b) of the West Virginia Rules of Evidence provides:

Other crimes, wrongs, or acts. Evidence of other crimes, wrongs, or acts is not admissible to prove the character of a person in order to show that he or she acted in conformity therewith. It may, however, be admissible for other purposes, such as proof of motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge, identity, or absence of mistake or accident.

The purpose of Rule 404(b) is to prevent the conviction of a defendant for one crime by use of evidence tending to show that he engaged in other legally unconnected criminal acts and to prevent the inference that because s/he had engaged in or may have engaged in other crimes previously he was more likely to commit the crime for which he was being charged. *State v. Simmons*, 175 W.Va. 656, 657; 337 S.E.2d 314, 315 (1985), citing *State v. Harris*, 166 W.Va. 72; 272 S.E.2d 471 (1980). The West Virginia Supreme Court takes seriously claims of unfair prejudice. *State v. LaRock*, 196 W.Va. 294, 310-11, 470 S.E.2d 613, 629-30. (1996). The Court recognizes the prejudice inherent in admitting evidence of other crimes and demands that a defendant be tried for what he or she did, not for who he or she is. *Id*. Thus, guilt or innocence of an accused must be established by evidence relevant to the particular offense being tried, not by showing a defendant was engaged in other acts of wrongdoing. *Id*.

Rule 404(b) begins by restating the exclusionary principle of Rule 404(a) that evidence of crimes, wrongs, or acts is inadmissible to prove that a person acted in conformity therewith on a particular occasion. The second sentence of Rule 404(b), however, expressly permits the introduction of specific acts in the nature of crimes, wrongs, or acts to prove purposes other than character, including "proof of motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge, identity, or absence of mistake or accident." Thus, Rule 404(b) permits the introduction of specific crimes, wrongs, or acts for "other purposes" when character is not, at least overtly, a link in the

logical chain of proof. *State v. McGinnis*, 193 W.Va. 147, 153–154; 455 S.E.2d 516, 522–523 (1994).

When offering evidence under Rule 404(b), the prosecution is required to identify the specific purpose for which the evidence is being offered and the jury must be instructed to limit its consideration of the evidence to only that purpose. It is not sufficient for the prosecution or the trial court merely to cite or mention the litany of possible uses listed in Rule 404(b). The specific and precise purpose for which the evidence is offered must clearly be shown from the record and that purpose alone must be told to the jury in the trial court's instruction. Syl. pt. 1, *State v. McGinnis*, supra.

Intrinsic Evidence Exception to 404(b) Analysis

Pursuant to *State v. LaRock*, 196 W.Va. 294, 470 S.E.2d 613 (1996), evidence of "other bad acts" is admissible *without analysis under 404(b)* when the trial court determines that the evidence is intrinsic to the crimes charged in the indictment. *LaRock* involved the death of an infant from a skull fracture. *Id.* The child's father intentionally slammed the infant on the floor multiple times. *Id.* At autopsy, in addition to the skull fracture, the medical examiner noted several healing bruises from abuse in the recent past inflicted by the defendant. *Id.* The evidence of past abuse was deemed "intrinsic" evidence to explain the context of the previous bruising on the child's body. *Id.* Unlike the case sub judice, the other acts were close in time/proximity to the charged conduct, undisputedly caused by a single defendant, and necessary to explain the full context of the state's physical evidence related to the cause of death.

In determining whether the admissibility of evidence of "other bad acts" is governed by Rule 404(b), the Court first must determine if the evidence is "intrinsic" or "extrinsic." *Id.*, *See*

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