IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGENAEFiled: Apr 10 2023 07:30PM EDT

Docket No. 22-705

Transaction ID 69780745

STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA,

Plaintiff Below, Respondent,

v.

JULIE BROWNING,

Defendant Below, Petitioner

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

Appeal from the August 21, 2022, Order Circuit Court of Fayette County Case No. CC-10-2020-F-75

> PATRICK MORRISEY ATTORNEY GENERAL

GAIL V. LIPSCOMB ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL West Virginia State Bar No. 7007 Office of the Attorney General 1900 Kanawha Blvd. E. State Capitol, Bldg. 6, Ste. 406 Charleston, WV 25305 Tel: (304) 558-5830

Fax: (304) 558-5833

Email: Gail.V.Lipscomb@wvago.gov

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

The United States Supreme Court has expressed the importance of intrinsic evidence to satisfy juror expectations in deciding a story's truth, stating "the prosecution with its burden of persuasion needs evidentiary depth to tell a continuous story." *Old Chief v. United States*, 519 U.S.

172, 190 (1997). "The jury is entitled to know the 'setting' of a case. It cannot be expected to make its decision in a void without knowledge of the time, place and circumstances of the acts which form the basis of the charge." *Harris*, 230 W.Va. at 721-22, 742 S.E.2d at 137-38 (quotations and citations omitted). Intrinsic evidence, commonly referred to as *res gestae* evidence, "is vitally important in many trials." *Id.* at 723, 742 S.E.2d at 139 (quoting *Old Chief*, 519 U.S. at 189).

It enables the factfinder to see the full picture so that the evidence will not be confusing and prevents gaps in a narrative of occurrences which might induce unwanted speculation." *United States v. Metz*, 34 M.J. 349, 351 (C.M.A. 1992) (footnote and citation omitted). Admission of evidence of a criminal defendant's prior bad acts, received to establish the circumstances of the crime on trial describing its immediate context, has been approved in many other jurisdictions following the adoption of the Rules of Evidence. *State v. Agee*, 326 N.C. 542, 391 S.E.2d 171, 174 (1990).

Id. at 723, 742 S.E.2d at 139. When considering these factors, "[h]istorical evidence of uncharged prior acts which is inextricably intertwined with the charged crime is admissible over a Rule 403 objection [and is] not intended to prohibit a prosecutor from presenting a full picture of a crime" LaRock, 196 W.Va. at 313, 470 S.E.2d at 632. The introduction of intrinsic evidence gives the jury a complete picture of the charged crime and avoids fragmentizing the case. See Harris, 230 W. Va. 717, 742 S.E.2d 133; State v. Masters, 622 F.2d 83 (1980). Both this Court and the United States Supreme Court have recognized that "jurors do not want abstract cases; they demand a coherent evidentiary narrative and, without this narrative, may penalize the State—the party with the burden of evidentiary persuasion." Old Chief, 519 U.S. 172, 188-89. This premise is consistent with other jurisdictions wherein, "[t]he law allows the introduction of evidence for the purpose of showing that there is more than one act upon which proof of an element of an offense may be

based." *Harris*, 230 W.Va. at 723, 742 S.E.2d at 139 (quoting *State v. Arceo*, 84 Hawai'I 1, 928 P.2d 843 (1996)).

Accordingly, once a determination is made by the circuit court that prior acts are relevant and admissible as *intrinsic* evidence, a Rule 404(b) analysis is not required. Rather, the remaining analysis for the admissibility of such evidence is the determination of relevance and the balancing test pursuant to Rule 403. W. Va. R. Evid. 403. It is axiomatic that irrelevant evidence is inadmissible at trial. *See* W. Va. R. Evid. 402. Relevant evidence—evidence that "has any tendency to make a fact [of consequence] more or less probable"—is generally admissible at trial subject to the balancing test embedded in West Virginia Rule of Evidence 403. *Compare* W. Va. R. Evid. 401(a), (b) *with* W. Va. R. Evid. 403. *Cf.* Syl. Pt. 9, *State v. Derr*, 192 W. Va. 165, 451 S.E.2d 731 (1994) (noting that the rules of evidence "strongly encourage the admission of as much evidence as possible" subject to Rule 403's balancing test). This balancing test compels the admission of relevant evidence so long as its probative value is not substantially outweighed by a danger of "unfair prejudice, confusing the issues, misleading the jury, undue delay, wasting time, or [is] cumulative[.]" W. V. R. Evid. 403.

The trial court "enjoys broad discretion" in conducting this balancing test. Syl. Pt. 10, in part, *Derr*, 192 W. Va. 165, 451 S.E.2d 731. "Rulings on the admissibility of evidence are largely within a trial court's sound discretion and should not be disturbed unless there has been an abuse of discretion." Syl. Pt. 2, *State v. Peyatt*, 173 W. Va. 317, 315 S.E.2d 574 (1983) (citing *State v. Louk*, W.Va., 301 S.E.2d 596, 599 (1983)). It is, therefore, well-established that a determination regarding the admissibility of evidence is "essentially a matter of trial conduct, and [its] discretion will not be overturned absent a showing of clear abuse." Syl. Pt. 8, *State v. Rollins*, 233 W. Va. 715, 760 S.E.2d 529 (2014) (quoting Syl. Pt. 10, in part, *Derr*, 192 W. Va. 165, 451 S.E.2d 731.

In the case at hand, the circuit court conducted an *in camera* hearing where it heard the evidence sought to be introduced by the State. After the close of the *in camera* testimony, and arguments by all counsel, the court made the following ruling:

I don't think this is 404(b) evidence I think it is intrinsic evidence to show common scheme, pattern, design . . . I don't think its 404(b) evidence.

A.R. 103.

Court feels that the evidence of these—the medical personnel from Summersville Hospital and the testimony of the teacher that had this child in kindergarten and first grade—that their evidence is admissible. As I indicated earlier, I don't think its 404(b) evidence, but intrinsic to show the pattern, custom, and habits of treatment of this child by these individuals over a period of time . . . these events are not so isolated in time that the jury can't draw a conclusion that it was a continuing pattern on behalf of these Defendants.

A.R. 108.

But it is evidence I think that the jury should hear that tells the whole story regarding how this child was treated by these folks that had her custody in Nicholas County and also had her custody here Fayette County.

A.R. 109.

To properly present a complete story, it was critical for the State to explain to the jury the ongoing acts of abuse and neglect resulting in the demise of R.B.'s physical health while in the care of Petitioner, and how this pattern of neglect substantially contributed to R.B's cause of death. This is precisely where the full presentation of circumstances as to how R.B. came to be in such a deteriorated condition in Petitioner's care must be shown. Examples of these failures by Petitioner included the disregard of documentation and concerns from outside sources regarding R.B.'s extreme weight loss down to the 2nd percentile resulting in R.B.'s fragile health, A.R. 828, and causing R.B. to be extremely susceptible to infection, as well as destroying R.B's ability to fight infection. A.R. 773, 949. The expert testimony of Dr. Staton, A.R. 529; Dr. Savasman, A.R. 742;

Dr. Mock, A.R. 773; Dr. Phillips, A.R. 843; and Dr. Moffett, A.R. 949, informed the jury that R.B.'s physical condition was so depleted by dehydration and lack of nutrition that her body was unable to fight the untreated pneumonia and sepsis infection. Petitioner conceded she did not seek medical attention for R.B. prior to R.B.'s death. A.R. 1623. Additionally, Petitioner's ongoing conduct such as: interaction with medical providers wherein Petitioner purposely omitted pertinent information, A.R. 519, 621, promoting other unsubstantiated or inconsistent information regarding R.B. behavior and health, A.R. 567, 776-777, the withholding of food and water as punishment causing R.B. to drink out of the toilet A.R. 1195, a strongly suspicious fracture of R.B.'s femur coupled with an explanation inconsistent with the medical evidence, A.R. 688, 528, deprivation of nutrition in the home; A.R. 1185-1186, 1191, maltreatment of the child, A.R. 1190, and accounts of unexplained bruising and a second degree burn, A.R. 480, 482, are all inextricably intertwined to the charged crime of Child Neglect Resulting in Death and provide compelling evidence to explain what R.B. endured leading up to her death.

The intrinsic evidence of negligent conduct by Petitioner was properly admitted to demonstrate Petitioner's pattern of neglectful behavior and consistent disregard of R.B's extremely deteriorating health; ultimately proving that at the time of R.B.'s death Petitioner's actions in turning a blind eye to the readily observable signs of R.B.'s grave condition and fatal illness was not reasonable. Because these contributing prior acts of abuse and neglect leading up to R.B.'s death explained the pattern of neglectful treatment giving rise to R.B.'s seriously deteriorated physical condition, and explains R.B.'s inability to fight the severe infection resulting in her death, R.B.'s official cause of death from pneumonia cannot be viewed in a vacuum. Rather, the ongoing pattern of neglect was necessary to present a complete story explaining the relevant history behind Petitioner's final failure to exercise reasonable care.

Here, the circuit court acted soundly and rationally in permitting the admissibility of the prior acts as *intrinsic* evidence. Accordingly, the circuit court did not abuse its discretion in determining said evidence was admissible as intrinsic evidence. This Court in *State v. McKinley*, 234 W. Va. 143, 764 S.E.2d 303 (2014), held,

[a]fter carefully reviewing the record, we cannot say that the trial court abused its discretion in finding that the prior acts constituted intrinsic evidence, not subject to Rule 404(b) analysis. While the acts were not part of a 'single criminal episode'... to the charged offenses, it is difficult to conclude that the evidence was not necessary 'to complete the story of the crimes on trial' or otherwise provide context to the crimes charged.

Id. at 155, 764 S.E.2d at 315; State v. Hutchinson, 215 W.Va. 313, 321, 599 S.E.2d 736, 744 (2004) ("We find that the evidence which the appellant challenges on this appeal was merely presented as context evidence illustrating why the appellant committed this murder. It portrayed to the jurors the complete story of the inextricably linked events of the day and amounted to intrinsic evidence."). Petitioner cannot demonstrate the circuit court abused its discretion in concluding the evidence of continuing incidents of uncharged child neglect and abuse was intrinsic to the crime charged, as this conduct was part of a continuous series of actions—and inactions—all of which were closely and intimately linked to the charged crimes. Therefore, Petitioner's argument lacks merit, and this Court should find the circuit court did not abuse its discretion by admitting the relevant evidence as intrinsic evidence.

III. The trial court did not error when it imposed reasonable limits on Petitioner's examination of a non-accusing co-defendant, and did not impermissibly deny Petitioner's constitutional right of cross examination.

Petitioner's second assignment of error claims her right to cross-examine a codefendant was unconstitutionally limited. Pet'r Br. 2. Petitioner claims the circuit court erred in prohibiting the Petitioner from asking questions to a codefendant regarding facts that had already been

answered by direct examination of that witness. Pet'r Br. 2. Petitioner asserts she should have been able to freely question the testifying co-defendant in cross examination, without limitation, and that the circuit court's refusal to grant her such broad latitude violated her constitutional rights. Pet'r Br. 19.

The Sixth Amendment to the United States constitution provides in relevant part: "[i]n all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right . . . to be confronted with the witnesses against him. . . . " U.S. Const. amend VI; State v. Mullens, 179 W. Va. 567, 573 n. 2, 371 S.E.2d 64, 70 n. 2 (1988). This right of an accused to confront the witnesses against him "is a fundamental right made obligatory on the States by the Fourteenth Amendment." Mullens, at 570, 371 S.E.2d at 67; Pointer v. Texas, 380 U.S. 400, 403 (1965). "Cross-examination is the principle mean by which the believability of a witness and the truth of his testimony are tested. Subject always to the broad discretion of a trial judge to preclude repetitive and unduly harassing interrogation " Davis v. Alaska, 415 U.S. 308 (1974). The United States Supreme Court in Delaware v. Van Arsdall, 475 U.S. 673 (1986) made clear that "the Confrontation Clause guarantees an opportunity for effective cross-examination, not cross-examination that is effective in whatever way, and to whatever extent, the defense might wish." Id. at 679, (quoting Delaware v. Fensterer, 474 U.S. 15, 20 (1985)(per curiam)(emphasis in original). United States v. Crockett, 813 F.2d 1310, 1313 (4th Cir. 1987) provides guidance to explain the scope of cross-examination of a co-defendant under the Confrontation Clause by stating "a defendant has a right to cross-examine a codefendant only if the codefendant's testimony was incriminatory." Id. at 1313. "All the cases make clear that the trigger for the right of confrontation is an incriminatory statement." Id. at 1315. (emphasis added). The Crockett court held the lower court's decision to deny cross examination was permissible because the "testimony failed to give rise to any incriminating inference which

Crockett had a right to challenge", and was consistent with the purpose of the Confrontation Clause. *Id.* at 1315. In *Pointer*, the United States Supreme Court of Appeals reiterated that the constitutional goal of a trial is fairness. *Pointer*, 380 U.S. 400, 405. This Court in *State v. Lawson*, 128 W. Va. 136, 139, 36 S.E.2d 26, 28 (1945) has held "[t]he bias of the witness and his interest in the event of the prosecution are not collateral, and may always be proved to enable the jury to estimate his credibility." *State v. Lawson*, 128 W. Va. 136, 139, 36 S.E.2d 26, 28 (1945).

As such, the case law detailing a defendant's right to confront his accuser in the form of cross-examination refers to the testimony of an adverse witness. In the instant case, however, this co-defendant witness was not called as an adverse witness to Petitioner. Petitioner was afforded the opportunity to question this co-defendant witness, and therefore, Petitioner's Confrontation Clause rights were not violated. Petitioner claims she was prohibited from asking questions to "flush out potential inconsistencies of [Ms. Titchenell's] testimony." Pet'r Br. 19. This assertion by Petitioner is simply not the case. Petitioner was given the opportunity to question Ms. Titchenell and to challenge her credibility and truthfulness as Petitioner deemed necessary. A.R. 1655. Petitioner expressly declined this opportunity. A.R. 1655. After Ms. Titchenell was examined by her own counsel, the court specifically asked Petitioner's counsel, Mr. Plants, "[D]o you have questions of this witness [Ms. Titchenell]?" A.R. 1655. To which, Petitioner's counsel responded, "No, Your Honor." Id. Petitioner had a second opportunity to question Ms. Titchenell after redirect. A.R. 1676. Again, the court inquired of Petitioner if she wanted to ask any questions, and she declined. A.R. 1676. Therefore, Petitioner was given ample opportunity for examination of the witness, and specifically chose not to ask any questions of the witness. Petitioner was offered a fair and reasonable means to challenge the credibility and truthfulness of the witness, and chose not to utilize this option. Petitioner cannot now complain of her intentional decision.

Moreover, Petitioner claims that potential inconsistencies were not adequately flushed out but fails to point specifically to instances in the record where such existed. Pet'r Br. at 19. In fact, Petitioner recognizes that Ms. Titchenell was as critical witness. *Id.* Yet, Petitioner's actions belie her claim as the record shows that Petitioner declined questioning Ms. Titchenell after direct examination by her counsel. A.R. 1655. Testimony from both Petitioner and Ms. Titchenell recount the same facts and are not in conflict as to the day R.B. died. A.R. 1595-1597, 1666-1671. Petitioner has failed to demonstrate any inconsistencies in Ms. Titchenell's testimony, or anything that could reasonably be construed as incriminating toward Petitioner. Petitioner was expressly asked if she wished to question the witness, and Petitioner expressly declined to ask any questions.

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